#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-9910

#### **BASIL THORNTON**

#### APPELLEE

#### On Appeal From The Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi Cause Number 251-006-626CIV Honorable Swan Yerger

#### Brief of Appellant City of Jackson

PIETER TEEUWISSEN CITY ATTORNEY CLAIRE BARKER HAWKINS DEPUTY CITY ATTORNEY

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 455 East Capitol Street Post Office Box 2779 Jackson, Mississippi 39207 Telephone: 601-960-1799

#### **COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT**

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI VS.

APPELLANT

CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-9910

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issue that this Court should resolve on this appeal is:

- 1. Whether the trial judge erred in apportioning fault between the City of Jackson, Co-Defendant Robertson, and Kewania Lewis.
- 2. Whether the damages awarded were against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

.

6

ł

ί,

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. PROCEEDINGS BELOW

On June 20, 2006, Plaintiff filed suit in the Hinds County Circuit Court against the City of Jackson and the Parents of Isaiah Robertson. R. at 7. Plaintiff alleged that the City of Jackson officers engaged Co-Defendant Robertson in a "high speed pursuit," causing Co-Defendant Robertson to crash into Plaintiff's vehicle. R. at 10. Plaintiff alleged that the officers acted with reckless disregard of Plaintiff's safety because they allegedly "ignored or failed to ascertain and consider the factors contained in their General Orders, thereby violating Jackson Police Department policy." R. at 11. Plaintiff also alleged negligence, negligence *per se* and gross negligence against Co-Defendant Robertson. R. at 13.

The normal course of discovery and pre-trial motions ensued, and on November 2, 2009 a four day bench trial was held before the Honorable Swan Yerger. Judge Yerger found in favor of the Plaintiff and awarded damages in the amount of 375,000. R. at 47 - 62. The City filed a Motion to Amend the Judgment, asserting that the trial judge failed to apportion liability to Co-Defendant Robertson pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 885-5-7. The City also asserted that the trial judge failed to apportion liability to Kewania Lewis. Lewis was entering the intersection at the same time as Robertson, causing Robertson to ricochet off of Lewis and hit Plaintiff head on. R. at 63. The trial judge found that no apportionment of liability should be attributable to Lewis and that only twenty percent (20%) of liability should be apportioned to Robertson. R. at 124.

The damages against the City were reduced from \$375,000 to \$300,000. R. at 125. From this judgment, the City timely appealed. R. at 67.

#### **B.** STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the morning of December 15<sup>,</sup> 2004, Michael Fowler left the keys inside of his Ford Expedition while the vehicle running and went into J&J's Quickstop located on Bounds Street in Jackson. T.T. at 37. A fifteen year old black male stole Fowler's vehicle, and the identity of the man was later learned to be Co-Defendant Robertson. T.T. at 38. This was the second vehicle that Robertson stole that morning. T. T at 246. The police were called to the scene, and shortly thereafter Officer Kenneth Talton observed the stolen vehicle at the Shadowood Forest Apartment Complex on State Street and Briarwood Road. See R.E. 4, pgs. 74, 129 – 131.<sup>1</sup>

Officer Talton testified that when he first observed Robertson, he was inside the stolen vehicle at the apartment complex, with his head down and "doing something with his hands," which led Officer Talton to believe that Robertson could have a weapon. *Id.* Due to the fact that Robertson had committed a felony and was driving the stolen vehicle, Officer Talton followed him from the apartment complex on to Briarwood, to North State Street. *Id.* at 117. At this point, Officer Talton did not have his blue lights engaged; he was simply following Robertson. *Id.* Robertson turned North on State Street, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Former Jackson Police Officer Kenneth Talton was not available for trial, as he was working overseas in Iraq. The trial judge admitted Talton's deposition testimony at trial, and the entire deposition is attached as Record Excerpt 4.

Officer Talton continued to follow the vehicle to the intersection of Beasley Road. *Id.* at 117 - 18. Officer Talton had still not activated his vehicle's blue lights or siren. *Id.* Robertson stopped at the intersection of Beasley and State, looked both ways, and went through the intersection, running the red light. *Id.* at 118. It was at this time Officer Talton blue lighted the stolen vehicle. *Id.* 

Once Officer Talton engaged his blue lights at the northbound intersection of State and Beasley, (because Robertson had already committed a felony and now is breaking traffic laws) he then followed Robertson up State Street to West County Line Road. *Id.* at 133. Robertson took a left on West County Line, and Officer Talton continued following him onto Kelly and Brown Streets, which are adjacent to County Line Road and across the street from the Tougaloo College area. Robertson then turned around on either Kelly or Brown Street and proceeded East on County Line Road, back towards State Street. *Id.* at 134 – 35. Talton continued to follow Robertson South on State Street towards Beasley Avenue, and Officer Strong filed in behind Robertson at this time.<sup>2</sup> *Id.* at 135.

Once Robertson turned South on State Street from County Line Road, his vehicle began to increase speed. T.T. at 244. It is important to note that this section of State Street is a five lane highway; there are two southbound lanes, two northbound lanes, and one turning lane in the middle, running the length of the street. T.T. at 148. Furthermore, there is a railroad track running parallel with the southbound lanes of State Street, thus there are no residences or businesses

í

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  It should be noted that Michael Fowler was in the patrol car with Officer Strong during this time. However, Officer Strong testified that the reason Fowler was in his patrol vehicle was because Strong did not realize that the vehicle was occupied when he told Fowler to get in the car. Rather, he thought that the police had recovered an abandoned vehicle. See T.T. at 293.

on the west side of the highway where Robertson increased speed. *Id.* As the officers began to approach the intersection of State Street and Beasley Road, Officer Talton signaled over the radio to discontinue the pursuit because Robertson began to drive erratically, going around vehicles in the Southbound turning lane on State Street. R.E. 4, p. 111, 143.

The light at the intersection of State and Beasley turned red for the southbound traffic, and the stolen vehicle driven by Co-Defendant Robertson began to pick up speed, in an apparent attempt to run the red light. *Id.* at 59. As Robertson approached the intersection, Kewania Lewis was stopped in the eastbound, left-hand lane of Beasley. See T.T. at 121.

Lewis testified that while she was stopped at the intersection, she reached into her CD case to change the music in her car. T.T. at 123. As she was changing the CD, the light turned green, and Lewis attempted to turn North on State Street. T.T at 123-24. Lewis testified that she never looked for other traffic as she proceeded into the intersection and never saw any police lights, cars or sirens as she was entering the intersection. T.T. at 124, 126. She was then struck by Robertson as he ran the red light on State Street. *Id.* The stolen vehicle then ricocheted off Lewis's vehicle and struck the Plaintiff head on. T.T. at 193-94. Robertson then got out of the vehicle and ran from the police. Once the Police apprehended Robertson, they recovered approximately 4 grams of marijuana. T.T. at 285.

.

:

i

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Upon review of the trial judge's findings of facts and conclusions of law, the excessive damages award of \$375,000, the trial judge's conduct throughout the entire trial and after the close of the trial, there is an indication of bias and impartiality against the City. The damages awarded in this matter are not only excessive, but are unsupported by substantial evidence. The trial judge ordered \$42,000 in loss of wages and earning capacity, even though testimony demonstrated that Plaintiff suffered neither loss wages nor loss of earning capacity. Plaintiff **voluntarily** left his position at the Richland Police Department and is now earning more than he did prior to the accident. The trial judge clearly erred in awarding loss wages.

The only actual damages in this matter are \$30,000, which are Plaintiff's medical bills. The total damages awarded were \$375,000. This is more than ten times the amount of the actual damages, therefore, the presumption of impartiality is inferred. The trial judge openly questioned the City's policies during trial, overruled nearly 90% of the City's objections, awarded non-economic damages that were more than ten times actual damages, and had improper contact with Plaintiff's counsel after the close of trial. After the close of evidence, the trial judge emailed Plaintiff's counsel on numerous occasions requesting "assistance" in calculations of the damages and on the issue of liability. Although the City was copied on these emails, the appearance of impropriety was no less.

Further, the lower court erred in failing to properly apportion fault to Co-Defendant Robertson and Kewania Lewis. There is unrebutted testimony that Robertson was fleeing police, driving in a reckless manner, ran a red light and crashed into Plaintiff. Yet, the trial court merely apportioned 20% liability to Robertson. There was also unrebutted testimony that Lewis was changing a CD when entering the intersection, did not look down the street for cars and did not see or hear the sirens. She failed to keep a proper lookout. Importantly, had Lewis kept a proper lookout and not enter the intersection. Robertson would have gone straight through the intersection, without collision. But. Lewis proceeded into the intersection, and Robertson collided with her vehicle, causing Robertson's vehicle to crash into the Plaintiff. Based on this testimony, the lower court erred in failing to apportion fault. The City respectfully requests this Court to reverse the lower court's ruling and enter a judgment reducing the total damages and properly apportioning between all parties.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This action was brought under the Mississippi Torts Claims Act, which permits actions against a municipality, but requires a bench trial with the circuit judge sitting as finder of fact. In *Ezell v. Williams*, 724 So.2d 396 (Miss.1998), this Court enunciated that the standard of review in such cases requires that when a trial judge sits without a jury, this Court will not disturb his factual determinations where there is substantial evidence in the record to support those findings. Stated another way, this Court generally will affirm a trial court sitting

÷

:

i,

without a jury on a question of fact unless, based upon substantial evidence, the court must be manifestly wrong. This Court must examine the entire record and accept that evidence, which supports or reasonably tends to support the findings of fact made below, together with all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom and which favor the lower court's findings of fact.

This Court employs a *de novo* standard when reviewing questions of law, including those questions concerning the application of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. *Maldonado v. Kelly*, 768 So.2d 906, 908 (Miss.2000) (citing *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss.2000)).

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. The lower court erred in finding that Kewania Lewis and Co-Defendant Robertson were not proximate causes of the accident.

The Court of Appeals has held that even if a Plaintiff proves that an officer acted in reckless disregard, <u>he must establish that the officer's actions</u> <u>were the proximate cause of the accident</u>. Ogburn v. City of Wiggins, 919 So.2d 85, 91 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005) (emphasis added) (citing *McIntosh v*. *Victoria Corp.*, 877 So.2d 519, 523 (¶ 14) (Miss.Ct.App. 2004)); Sample v. Haga, 824 So.2d 627, 632 (¶ 8) (Miss.Ct.App. 2001). In the case sub judice, the Court need not address whether any of the officers' actions constituted reckless disregard. Because Mississippi law requires <u>both</u> reckless disregard <u>and</u> proximate cause to be present in order to recover as a matter of law, the City submits that the issue of proximate cause is outcome determinative. This is not

to say that the City concedes the issue of reckless disregard. Rather, the analysis of the reckless disregard factors in a pursuit context is unnecessary in this matter, as the dispositive issue is whether the City proximately caused the Plaintiff's injuries.

Proximate cause requires: (1) cause in fact; and (2) foreseeability. *Morin v. Moore*, 309 F.3d 316, 326 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002) (citing *Ambrosio v. Carter's Shooting Ctr., Inc.*, 20 S.W.3d 262, 265 (Tex.App. 2000)). "Cause in fact" means that the act or omission was a substantial factor in bringing about the injury, and without it the harm would not have occurred. *Ogburn*, 919 So.2d at 91. "Foreseeability" means that a person of ordinary intelligence should have anticipated the dangers that his negligent act created for others. *Id.* (citing *Morin*, 309 F.3d at 326). Foreseeability does not require that a person anticipate the precise manner in which injury will occur once he has created a dangerous situation through his negligence. *Id.* 

In the case at bar, there are two individuals who proximately caused the accident at Beasley and State. First: Isaiah Robertson. Robertson stole two vehicles on the morning of December 15, 2004, Mr. Fowler's vehicle being second. T.T. at 246. Robertson failed to yield Officer Talton's blue lights, proceeded to drive recklessly down State Street, eventually running the red light, hitting another car and crashing into the Plaintiff. Second: Kewania Lewis. She was clearly not paying attention as she proceeded through the intersection and failed to yield. She admitted that she did not observe the lights, sirens or the

stolen vehicle. Rather, the stolen vehicle hit Lewis and ricocheted into the Plaintiff's car causing injuries.

The Court of Appeals of Tennessee recently addressed a similar issue with facts alarmingly similar to the case at bar. In *Hampton v. City of Memphis*, Cause No. W2010-00469-COA-R3-CV (Dec. 14, 2010) a City of Memphis police officer in an unmarked vehicle pursued Defendant Madden in the wrong direction on an exit ramp, colliding head on with the Plaintiff. See R.E. 5. The Tennessee Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's finding that the Plaintiff's injuries were caused solely by the acts of Defendant Madden, not the City of Memphis. Id. In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals considered the facts that Madden admitted to having used illegal drugs that morning, that medical syringes containing methamphetamine were found in his vehicle, and that Madden made the decision to disobey traffic laws and drive the wrong way up an interstate ramp. Id., p.4. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's holding that the officers' actions were not the proximate, legal cause of the collision, and that although Mr. Hampton "suffered horrendous injuries, through no fault of his own, these injuries were the result of a criminal traveling the streets and highways of Memphis, Tennessee under the influence of drugs." Id., p. 5 (emphasis added).

The ruling by the Tennessee Court of Appeals is instructive in the case *sub judice* because the facts before the *Hampton* court are nearly identical to the case at bar: Defendant Robertson was charged with possession of marijuana, this was the second car Robertson stole that morning, Robertson made the decision to disobey traffic laws and speed through a red light, causing injuries to the Plaintiff. Simply put, Robertson was a criminal, driving recklessly through the streets of Jackson, causing the unfortunate accident with Plaintiff Thornton.

## A. The actions of Isaiah Robertson were a proximate cause of Plaintiff's injuries.

In the instant matter, it was primarily the negligent acts of driver Robertson, as opposed to any alleged reckless disregard of Officer Talton that were the proximate cause of the collision. The Court of Appeals has addressed this matter in **Ogburn v. City of Wiggins**, which is factually and legally similar to the case at bar. In **Ogburn**, the officer initiated a pursuit with a driver who was driving on the wrong side of the road. 919 So.2d at 87. The officer followed the vehicle, but lost sight of it briefly, as the road contained hills. Id. at 88. The officer did not see the vehicle again until he reached the scene of the accident. Id. The driver lost control of the vehicle, crossed over the center line, and collided with another vehicle driven by Ogburn, who was killed in the collision. Id. The entire pursuit lasted one to two minutes and spanned approximately 1.7 miles. Id. The Court of Appeals found that it was the reckless driving of the fleeing driver, rather than the officer, that was the proximate cause of the Plaintiff's injuries and his wife's death. Id. at 92. The Court could not find any evidence that established that the pursuit constituted extreme or outrageous conduct or whether the accident would not have occurred had the officer not pursued the driver. Id.

Here, the same can be said about the incident with Robertson. Officer Talton first simply followed the vehicle from Briarwood to State Street and then to the intersection of State and Beasley, heading North. The vehicle ran the red light at the northbound intersection of State and Beasley, and this is when Officer Talton engaged his blue lights. Only after he identified the stolen vehicle (which is a known felony), as one of the two vehicles had been stolen that morning, and *after* the suspect ran the red light, did officer Talton engage his blue lights. R.E. 4 pgs. 150, 163-64. The pursuit lasted approximately five minutes and spanned approximately three miles. Id. at p. 73. When Robertson proceeded South on State Street, he began to accelerate and drive in a reckless manner. Id. at p. 143, T.T. at 244. It was at this time the pursuit was discontinued by Officer Talton. Id. Shortly thereafter, Robertson picked up speed and attempted to run the red light. T.T. at 299. This clearly indicates that it was, Robertson, the fifteen year old juvenile who was driving recklessly, rather than Officer Talton, Mullins or Mason, that proximately caused the accident.

The Plaintiff failed to demonstrate any evidence at trial that this accident would not have occurred had the officers not pursued Robertson. As previously mentioned Robertson was fifteen years old, did not have a driver's license and was in the process of committing a felony, had stolen another vehicle that morning, and was charged with possession of marijuana. There is absolutely no evidence to demonstrate that he would have not caused an accident even if he was not being followed by the officers. Therefore, a reasonable person of ordinary intelligence should have anticipated that a fifteen year old without a

12

Į

driver's license, who was committing a felony, would create dangers for others. *Morin*, 309 F.3d at 326.

# B. The actions of Kewania Lewis were a proximate cause of Plaintiff's injuries.

The second proximate cause of the Plaintiff's injuries was the actions of Kewania Lewis. Ms. Lewis was at the intersection where the accident occurred. She was stopped in the eastbound lane of Beasley Road. She had taken her daughter to school and was on her way to work. T.T. at 111. As Lewis stopped at the red light, she reached down to change the CD's, while she was inserting the CD in to the player, the light turned green. T.T. at 115 - 116. She then proceeded into the intersection. *Id.* Lewis was clearly not paying attention or keeping a proper lookout, as she did not yield to the oncoming stolen vehicle or the law enforcement sirens or lights. Lewis proceeded into the intersection, directly into the path of the stolen vehicle, causing Robertson to hit her car, and then collide with the Plaintiff's vehicle. The following actions indicate that Lewis failed to keep a proper lookout and amount to proximate cause:

- She was inserting a CD in her car, and when she saw the green arrow, she entered the intersection. T.T. at 123.
- Because she had a green arrow, she did not look for any other traffic. T.T. at 123-24.
- She did not see any police car before the collision. T.T. at 124
- She did not see any blue lights before the collision. *Id.*; and

ł.

• She did not hear any sirens before the collision. *Id.* 

All of this is uncontroverted direct evidence that Lewis' actions proximately caused Plaintiff's injuries.

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