IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-CA-9910-COA

	City of Jackson, Mississippi
Appellant,	
	vs.
	Basil Thornton
Appellee.	
Fir	On Appeal From the Circuit Court of the st Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi.
Disre	BRIEF OF APPELLEE, Basil Thornton (And Incorporated Motion to Strike spectful Language Concerning the Trial Court)
	ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

J. CHRISTOPHER KLOTZ (MSB# THE KLOTZ LAW FIRM
J. Christopher Klotz, P.C.
P.O. Box 12906
Pensacola, FL 32591-2906
Phone (850) 497-6565
Toll Free Fax 1-866-251-7888
email: chris@klotzlawfirm.com

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT/DEFENDANT

VS.

No. 2010-CA-9910

BASIL THORNTON

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

Relevant to the foreseeability of an accident causing injury to an innocent third party, the Plaintiffs expert, Dennis Waller, testified:

- The pursuit was conducted in a reckless and unreasonable manner. (TR, 375).
- The actions of Officers Talton were extreme, reckless, and posed an unreasonable danger to the public. (TR, 390-391).
- A greater danger was posed to the juvenile, to the officers, and to the public at large by the pursuit than the danger to the public posed by the theft of a vehicle (TR, 389-392).
- Officers involved in the pursuit were aware that the stolen vehicle was most likely taken by a juvenile by non-violent means. In short, the vehicle was most likely taken for a joy ride by an irrational, immature person who was inexperienced at driving and who did not consider the consequences of his actions." (TR, 390-391).
- this pursuit presented an unreasonable risk of danger coupled with conscious indifference to the foreseeable consequences. (TR, 402).
- it is foreseeable that there may be persons in an intersection who do not see lights or hear sirens. (TR, 397).

Finally, it is instructive to more carefully digest some of the cases cited by the City of Jackson in their brief. The City relies on **Morin v. Moore**, 309 F3d 316, 326 (5th Cir. 2002). While admittedly 5th Circuit cases may constitute persuasive authority, they are not controlling authority in the Mississippi Supreme Court. Additionally, **Morin**, addresses the application of <u>Texas</u>. Tort Claim act and <u>Texas</u>, application of proximate cause, not Mississippi's definition or application. Further, when the text of the **Morin**

opinion is examined in full, it actually supports the Plaintiff's position in this case.

Morin holds:

To establish foreseeability, a plaintiff must show that a defendant should have anticipated the danger that his or her negligent act or omission created for others. Travis v. City of Mesquite, 830 S.W.2d 94, 98 (Tex.1992). Foreseeability does not require a person to anticipate the precise manner in which an injury will occur once he has created a dangerous situation through his negligence. Id.; see also Ambrosio, 20 S.W.3d at 265 ("Foreseeability requires only that the general danger, not the exact sequence of events that produced the harm, be foreseeable.").

Morin at 326. Emphasis Added.

C. Kewania Lewis is not an Intervening Superseding Cause which could relieve the City's Liability.

The City wants to paint Kewania Lewis as an intervening, superseding cause because Kewania Lewis was hit first, and the Plaintiff second, by the fleeing juvenile suspect.

An intervening superseding cause may be a legal defense in some cases, but provides no relief for the City here. First, if an intervening act is foreseeable, it is not superseding and the initial tortfeasor's (the City in this case) negligence is not excused. Second, there is evidence from the Plaintiff and Officer Talton that even had Kewania Lewis not have been hit first, the fleeing juvenile suspect was in the Plaintiff's lane, headed directly at the Plaintiff and would have hit him regardless of Kewania Lewis' actions. Third and finally, the City takes the position that there are only two proximate causes of the accident, the fleeing suspect and Kewania Lewis. The City believes they bear zero responsibility for the accident.

The Plaintiff disagrees but, for argument, the law states that if there are multiple tortfeasors, then test for proximate cause is not "reasonable foreseeability" but the lower

threshold test of whether a particular tortfeasor's action was a "substantial factor" in bringing about the harm.

An act foreseeable to tortfeasor "A" cannot be an intervening superseding cause to excuse tortfeasor "A's" liability. The Mississippi Supreme Court has ruled:

¶ 43. JSU's argument that the rape was an intervening, superseding cause of Glover's damages has no merit. Our precedent clearly establishes that, where the intervening cause of injury was foreseeable, it cannot supersede the liability of the defendant. See, e.g.,) Southland Mgmt. Co. v. Brown, 730 So.2d 43 (Miss.1998).

Glover v. JSU, 968 So.2d 1267, *1280 (Miss.2007).

The fact that Kewania Lewis might not see a speeding suspect fleeing the police in the wrong lane of travel is foreseeable. Whether she properly looked out, or did not look out it is still foreseeable that she might not see the chase if the City conducts it in an unsafe manner. That Kewania Lewis would proceed on a green light if she can't the chase is foreseeable. (TR, 397).

The City wants to argue whether or not Lewis looked both ways and failed to scout for the fleeing suspect and was, thus, in the wrong. How do you keep on the lookout for a flying bullet that you can't see, or a sucker punch that you don't know is coming? This is a red herring. Plaintiff's expert Dennis Waller testified that the inability to see a vehicle in a recklessly conducted chase is foreseeable. (TR, 396-398). A *foreseeable* intervening cause does not excuse a tortfeasor's liability.

The trial court found, after considering the detailed diagrams, maps, photographs, testimony and experts that Kewania Lewis apportionment of fault was zero. The action s of Lewis provide no harbor form liability for the City. The trial court was uniquely positioned to make the factual determinations in this case and correctly

held that Kewania Lewis' action did excuse the City's actions or deserve apportionment of fault.

D. Plaintiff/Appellee's Motion to Strike disrespectful language.

Pursuant to Rule 28(k) M.R.A.P, the Appellee respectfully moves to strike those portions of the Appellant's brief which are disrespectful to the trial court. In its brief, the Appellant very specifically accuses the trial court (and Plaintiff's counsel) of unethical and allegedly criminal conduct in pages 24-26. To the knowledge of Plaintiff's Counsel, the City has never reported any of this alleged misconduct to the Mississippi Bar Association or appropriate law enforcement officials. Appellant's accusations of collusion and impropriety are at best, dramatic hyperbole.

There was no *ex parte* conduct whatsoever between any of the parties and the trial court. Though included in all correspondence with the Court, Appellant stood silent in the Final Order drafting process until this appeal. Appellant was free to draft whatever proposed Orders it thought appropriate and submit them to the Court. Appellant was free to comment on, edit, or critique, any proposed Order drafts Appellee submitted at the request of the trial court but, lackadaisically, refrained. Until this appeal, the City never lodged any complaint about, or objection to, the process of drafting the Final Order.

Now, because the appellant failed to devote any time to the Order drafting process, the City cries foul. The suggestion by the City that there was some unethical or potentially illegal conduct, similar to the conduct engaged in by disbarred and now incarcerated Circuit Judge Bobby DeLaughter, and others, is disrespectful and beyond farfetched. These arguments should be stricken from the Appellant's briefing. Appellee

respectfully requests that Supreme Court entertain imposing appropriate sanctions against the Appellant.

E. Are the Damages awarded against the evidence and the result of bias.

The Plaintiff testified thoroughly and extensively to the excruciating nature of his injuries. He described both the injuries at time of the accident and how they permanently effect him now. (TR 462 -515). Plaintiff used to live an active lifestyle and was in good physical shape through exercise conditioning. He taught martial arts, exercised and lived a very physically active life. The pain he experiences from his injuries and the threat of reinjury to his broken neck have kept him from doing the activities he used to do. The City did not put on one single witness or one single piece of evidence to rebut the Plaintiff's testimony regarding his injuries. The City has produced no evidence of bias. The issue is not just unsupported, it is untrue.

F. Are the Damages awarded excessive.

The Plaintiffs total medical expenses submitted to the Court were \$29,115.88. (TR, 490-506). The raw numbers were presented in court, but the City agreed to the process of submitting a "summary" chart to the Court with a total of all of the medical costs and lost wages after the live trial testimony concluded. (TR, 498-499). The City of Jackson said:

MR. TEEUWISSEN: Your Honor, if Mr. Klotz is going to present this in some summary after trial, I think he can just summarize it then. (TR, 498-499).

The Plaintiff submitted completely uncontroverted and unrebutted evidence of lost wages and inability to perform heavy manual labor. Those damages were \$6230.76

for 12 weeks of lost wages from Plaintiff's work as a Richland Police officer. (TR, 494-495).

Additionally, the Plaintiff had worked a second job for 6 years at Greyhound Bus in downtown Jackson to earn extra money. He had the Greyhound job even before he was a policeman. (TR, 512). Plaintiff testified that due to the very physical nature of the Greyhound Bus job, that is lifting heavy objects, he was unable to return to that job since his accident. (TR, 495-496). Plaintiff's uncontroverted and unrebutted testimony was that regardless of any other job he held, be it his police job or his current job, he would have kept the job at Greyhound to earn additional funds. (TR, 497-498). The City of Jackson neither made an attempt via cross-examination nor submitted contrary evidence post trial to dispute or question the Plaintiff's assertions or figures.

During the City's cross of Plaintiff, there was no challenge or question of the economic losses Plaintiff suffered regarding either medical costs or lost wages. (TR, 506-512). Post trial, the City of Jackson raised no objection to the economic loss summary chart provided to the Court that was discussed on the record by the parties during the trial. (See TR, 498-499) No challenge was ever made to Plaintiff's economic losses. The issue was never presented or preserved by the City of Jackson. The City has waived the issue for appellate review.

The total economic losses presented at trial by the Plaintiff is \$76,401.64, inclusive of medical expenses and lost wages. This stands in contrast to the allegation of the City that the Plaintiff's economic losses are only "\$30,000.00 in medical bills".

(Appellants Brief, p23). The City uses the \$30,000.00 medical cost figure by itself for dramatic effect in order to argue that the Court's award is "greater than ten times the

amount of actual damages". (Appellant's Brief, p23). Actually, ten times the proven losses (which were unrebutted and uncontested by the City at trial) would be approximately \$760,000.00, nowhere near the trial court's award to the Plaintiff.

Respectfully, the Plaintiff incorporates the detailed description of his extreme pain, suffering, permanent injury and loss of enjoyment of life described in the trial transcript through the Plaintiff's testimony and the testimony of his wife and friends. (TR, 452-432). All of the injuries and permanent disfigurement to Plaintiff's face, foot and neck are a result of the crash. (TR, 465). Plaintiff has gone from an exceptionally fit and healthy, physically active man to a sedentary person who lives in constant pain, with no end in sight. Because he cannot run, exercise or lift weights like he used to, he has gained 30 pounds since the crash. (TR, 482). He cannot enjoy the activities in life that he used to enjoy and will suffer pain, physical disfigurement and scarring of his face and head for the rest of his life.

The City of Jackson states that no one told the Plaintiff he could not be a police officer anymore. The truth is that he was told that if he suffered another injury in a struggle with a suspect, his fractured neck could be badly re-injured. The City of Jackson's statement in their brief that "Plaintiff was never told by his doctor or any other medical professional that he could not work as a police officer", is just not an accurate representation of the Plaintiff's unrebutted testimony. (Appellants Brief, p27).

The Plaintiff testified:

Q. Did you ever get back out on the street back on patrol what you were doing before?

A. No, and I asked my orthopedic surgeon
Dr. Tarquenio if he could just release me so I could get
back on patrol. He said I'm not going to do it. You

could get into a tussle with somebody or you could get into -- have to chase after somebody and that will put you in a situation, a bad situation or whatever where you weren't physically able to do that.

- Q. Now, with regard to what your neurologist told you about ever taking a lick to the head, did that particular statement to you come into to your mind when you were deciding whether or not you needed to stay on as police officer?
- A. Sure. And I knew with that the risk of being out on the road as a police officer or wearing a badge and a gun. Even if you're not a patrolman you make yourself a target. You go somewhere, you walk in a bank you wearing that and you're the target and, you know, the and plus people expect you to do stuff when you're wearing a badge and a gun, which I would do anyway, don't get me wrong, but you're going to get into a tussle if you're wearing that badge and gun at some point. That's what I mean by that.
- Q. And because of your -- because of your injuries that you had to your neck and to your brain, your physicians have advised you against putting yourself in a position where you might sustain another injury?

A. Yes.

(TR, 484-485)

In tort claims cases, trial courts are allowed to award most species of damages:

- ¶ 20. The amount of physical injury, mental and physical pain, present and future, temporary and permanent disability, medical expenses, loss of wages and wage-earning capacity, sex, age and health of the injured plaintiff, are all variables to be considered by the fact-finder in determining the amount of damages to be awarded. Woods v. Nichols, 416 So.2d 659, 671 (Miss. 1982). Each suit for personal injury must be decided by the facts shown in that particular case. Id.
- ¶ 21. The trial judge determined that there was overwhelming evidence that JaQuan suffered significant scarring and permanent disfigurement to his hand, fingernails, wrist, and forearm. He consequently ordered that damages be awarded to Tasha and JaQuan

in the amount of \$850,000, including \$33,159.28 in medical expenses. The trial judge, however, did not make any findings concerning any potential permanent impairment or functional limitations resulting from JaQuan's injuries.

Jackson Public School Dist. v. Smith, 875 So.2d 1100, ¶20-21, Miss.App.,2004.

The above quote comes from a Hinds County, Mississippi tort claims case that is on point, analogous, and controlling. The City fails to mention **J.P.S. v. Smith** in its briefing. In **Smith** the trial Court, Judge Kidd, awarded \$850,000, including \$33,159.28 in medical expenses for a hand injury along with chipped teeth and scrapes on Smith's chin, nose, lip, forehead, and back. **Id** at ¶6.

The Appellate Court remitted the \$850,00.00 award to \$400,000.00, more than Plaintiff Thornton was awarded by the trial court in this case. The Plaintiff's award by the trial court does not shock the conscious and is in line with the seriousness and permanency of his injuries. Plaintiff's proof of his pain and suffering, loss of enjoyment of life and permanent injury are at least as significant, if not much greater than the hand injury suffered by the plaintiff in the **Smith** case.

G. The Issue of Reckless Disregard:

In its Brief, the City makes no argument, and describes no manner of the trial court's alleged error. The City cites no authority for the proposal that the trial court erred in finding reckless disregard on the part of the Jackson Police Department. (Appellants Brief, p.28).

The comments to M.R.A.P. 28(a)cites relevant case law:

• Failure to cite any authority in support of a claim of error precludes Court of Appeals from considering the specific claim on appeal. Funderburg v. Pontotoc Elec. Power Ass'n, 2009, 6 So.3d 439.

• Defendant's appellate claim that plaintiff's failure to cite appropriate legal authority to support her position constituted a sanctionable event was procedurally barred, where defendant failed to cite any authority in support of its position. Welch v. Bank One Nat. Ass'n. 2009, 6 So.3d 435.

• A party is required to cite relevant authority for its argument, or face imposition of a procedural bar. Steadham v. State, 2008, 995 So.2d 835.

Comments to M.R.A.P. 28.

V. CONCLUSION

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